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DECISION AND ORDER2 

 

 Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Isaac D. Benkin issued a written initial decision 

finding that Ventura Air Services (“Ventura”) violated 14 C.F.R. §§ 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8),3 

by using a pilot on three revenue flights when the pilot had not taken a written or oral test in the 

subjects specified in those provisions in a timely fashion.  The ALJ assessed a nominal $1.00 

civil penalty.4   

The FAA and Ventura filed cross-appeals.  On appeal, Ventura argued that (1) the ALJ’s 

findings of fact were not supported by a preponderance of the evidence and each conclusion of 

law was not made in accordance with applicable law, precedent and policy, (2) Section 

135.293(a) is void for vagueness, and (c) the ALJ erred in admitting the FAA’s rebuttal witness’s 

expert testimony.  The FAA, on appeal, argued that the ALJ should have found that Ventura also 

                                                 
1
 Generally, materials filed in the FAA Hearing Docket (except for materials filed in security 

cases) are also available for viewing at http://www.regulations.gov.  14 C.F.R. § 13.210(e)(1).   

 
2
 The Administrator’s civil penalty decisions, along with indexes of the decisions, the rules of 

practice, and other information, are available on the Internet at the following address:  

www.faa.gov/about/office_org/headquarters_offices/agc/pol_adjudication/AGC400/Civil _Penalty/.  See 

14 C.F.R. § 13.210(e)(2).  In addition, Thomson Reuters/West Publishing publishes Federal Aviation 

Decisions.  Finally, the decisions are available through LEXIS (TRANS library) and WestLaw (FTRAN-

FAA database).  For additional information, see the Web site. 

 
3
 See Appendix I for the full text of Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8). 

 
4
 A two-day hearing was held on April 7-8, 2009. 
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violated Section 91.13, and that a $15,000 civil penalty is consistent with agency policy as 

applied to the facts of this case. 

 As explained in this decision, Ventura’s appeal is denied.  This decision holds that the 

preponderance of the evidence supports the ALJ’s decision that Ventura used a pilot who was 

not current on his Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) testing.  Further, Ventura’s arguments 

regarding the admission of the expert testimony of FAA Inspector Roy Michael Sees and that 

Section 135.293 should be found void for vagueness are rejected.  The FAA’s cross-appeal is 

granted.  A $15,000 civil penalty is assessed. 

I.  Background 

 Pilots who serve as required crewmembers in Part 135 operations are required under 

14 C.F.R. §§ 135.293(a)(1)-(8)5 to pass initial and recurrent oral or written tests in eight specified 

areas.  Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) require oral or written testing of a pilot’s non-aircraft-

specific knowledge, including pertinent regulations, provisions of the carrier’s operations 

specifications and manual, navigation, air traffic control procedures, and meteorology.  Sections 

135.293(a)(2)-(3) require written or oral testing of a pilot’s knowledge about the particular type  

of aircraft that the pilot will operate for the air carrier.  In addition, under Section 135.293(b), 

pilots are required to take competency tests, commonly referred to as “flight checks” in the 

aircraft or class or type of aircraft that they will fly for the operator.6   

Regarding the timing of these oral or written tests and flight checks, Section 135.293 

provides that “[n]o certificate holder may use a pilot, nor may any person serve as a pilot, unless 

since the beginning of the 12
th

 calendar month before that service, that pilot has passed” a written 

                                                 
5
 See Appendix I for the full text of Section 135.293(a).   

 
6
 See Appendix II for the full text of Section 135.293(b).  
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or oral test and a flight check.  This requirement must be read in conjunction with Section 

135.301(a), which provides as follows: 

If a crewmember who is required to take a test or a flight check under this part, completes 

the test or flight check in the calendar month before or after the calendar month in which 

it is required, that crewmember is considered to have completed the test or check in the 

calendar month in which it is required. 

 

14 C.F.R. § 135.301(a).   

For example, under Sections 135.293(a) and 135.301(a), if a pilot passed a written or oral 

test on all the areas covered by Section 135.293(a) in February of Year 1, the pilot could satisfy 

Section 135.293(a)’s recurrent oral or written test requirement by completing a knowledge test 

no later than the end of the “grace month,” March of Year 2.  (See Tr. 39, 42.)  In this example, 

February would be the “base month” and, under Section 135.301, if the pilot completed the 

recurrent testing during the following January, February, or March of Year 2, the testing would 

be considered as accomplished in February of Year 2.  (Tr. 42.)  This 3-month period, comprised 

of the base month, the month before and the month after the base month of Year 2, is referred to 

as the “eligibility period.”  (See Respondent’s Exhibit 1 at 1 (FAA Order No. 8400.10, ¶ 603); 

Letter by FAA Assistant Chief Counsel Rebecca MacPherson to Gregory Winton, Esq., dated 

September 6, 2006, Respondent’s Exhibit 7 at 2.)  

FAA Inspector Mark Rogers testified at the hearing that it is common for Part 135 

operators to establish separate base months for the Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) (non-

aircraft specific) portions of the oral or written test, the Sections 135.293(a)(2) and (3) (aircraft-

specific) portions of the oral or written test, and the Section 135.293(b) flight check.  (Tr. 118-

119.)   

In 2004, Ventura, the holder of an air carrier certificate, hired Nicholas Tarascio to serve 

as second in command of a Lear 25 and Lear 55.  (Tr. 176-177.)  Before that, Tarascio worked 
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for Air East Management, another company operating under Part 135, as second in command 

flying the same aircraft.   

Complainant’s Exhibit 1, Tarascio’s airman competency check records, FAA Form 

8410-3, showed that after Tarascio was hired by Ventura, he took oral or written tests and flight 

checks under Section 135.293 as summarized in the following chart: 

DATE SUBJECT- 

§ 135.293 

AIRCRAFT INSPECTOR/ 

CHECK AIRMAN 

12/08/2004 (a)(1) & (4)-(8) Not Applicable Inspector Mauro 

02/03/2005 (a) & (b) Lear 25D Inspector Fraher 

03/15/2005 (a)(2)-(3) & (b) Lear 35A Check Airman Boyd 

at SIMCOM 

03/16/2005  Lear 25 differences7 (illegible signature) 

at SIMCOM 

04/18/2005  Lear 55 differences Check Airman 

Santiago at 

SIMCOM 

05/08/2006 (a)(1) & (4)-(8) Not Applicable Inspector Rogers 

 

According to Ventura’s flight logs, Tarascio served as second in command on revenue 

flights under Part 135 on April 1 and 2, 2006 in a Lear 25 and on April 13, 2006, in a Lear 55.  

(Complainant’s Exhibits 5 and 6; Tr. 88-90.)  The next month, in May 2006, Ventura sent 

Tarascio to Inspector Rogers, who was Ventura’s principal operations inspector (POI) at the 

time, for the oral or written test required under Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8).8  (Tr. 29-30.)   

                                                 
7
 Differences training is defined as “the training required for crewmembers who have qualified 

and served on a particular type aircraft, when the Administrator finds differences training is necessary 

before a crewmember serves in the same capacity on a particular variation of that aircraft.”  14 C.F.R. 

§ 135.321(a)(4).  Tarascio testified that Ventura was going to operate a Lear 25, not a Lear 35, aircraft.  

(Tr. 190.)  Hence, after his Lear 35 simulator recurrent training and testing, he took differences training in 

the Lear 25 and later the Lear 55. 

 
8
 Because Rogers was not rated in the Lear, he could not give the Sections 135.293(a)(2) and (3) 

portions of the oral or written test.  (Tr. 31-32, 37-38.) 
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Rogers testified that before administering the test, he reviewed Tarascio’s training 

records and did not notice anything “abnormal.”9  (Tr. 38.)  However, he noticed “an area of 

discontinuity” in the test records because he could find no records to show that Tarascio had 

completed an oral or written test under Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) since he was tested by 

Inspector Susan Fraher in February 2005, approximately 15 months earlier.  (Tr. 29, 38-39.)  

Rogers testified that he asked Ventura’s director of operations, Gould Ryder, whether there were 

any records to show that Tarascio had completed the non-aircraft specific knowledge test by the 

end of March 2006, but Ryder never provided him with any additional documentation on this 

issue.  (Tr. 44.)  After giving the test to Tarascio on May 8, 2006, Rogers wrote in the “Remarks” 

section of the FAA Form 8400-3, that a “new base month [is] established for 135.293(a)(1), (4-8) 

only.”  (Complainant’s Exhibit 1 page 6; Tr. 64.)   

The FAA argued that Tarascio was overdue for the non-aircraft specific portions of the 

oral or written test required under Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) when he flew as second in 

command on April 1, 2, and 13, 2006.  Rogers testified at the hearing that because Tarascio 

completed the non-aircraft specific test with Inspector Fraher on February 3, 2005, he was 

required to complete those portions of the test again no later than the last day of March 2006 

under Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) and 135.301.  (Tr. 39, 43.)  However, Rogers testified, 

he found no evidence in the official test records that Tarascio had completed a recurrent test as 

required by Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)–(8) prior to the three flights in April 2006.  (Tr. 39, 

44, 47, 75, 113.)   

                                                 
9
 Rogers testified, based upon his review of the records, that Tarascio completed his initial 

training and Section 135.293(a)(1)-(8) test in February 2005, and took recurrent training and a Sections 

135.293(a)(2)-(3) test pertaining to the Lear in the simulator at SIMCOM in March 2005.  (Tr. 154-155.)   
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Ventura argued that Tarascio was current on his Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) 

testing when he served on the revenue flights in April 2006 because, in Ventura’s view, 

Tarascio’s testing date should have been deemed to be in March, not February.  Ventura’s 

argument was based on its interpretation of guidance in FAA Order No. 8400.10.  A review of 

training programs implemented by Part 135 carriers generally and Ventura’s training program10 

in particular is necessary to understand Ventura’s arguments. 

Crewmember training requirements are set forth in 14 C.F.R. §§ 135.321-135.353.  

Section 135.343 provides that: 

No certificate holder may use a person, nor may any person serve, as a crewmember in 

operations under this part unless that crewmember has completed the appropriate initial 

or recurrent training phase of the training program appropriate to the type of operation in 

which the crewmember is to serve since the beginning of the 12
th

 calendar month before 

that service. 

 

Section 135.323(b) provides a “grace month” for training, similar to Section 135.301’s provision 

regarding oral or written tests and flight checks.  14 C.F.R § 135.323(b). 

The FAA’s rebuttal witness, Inspector Roy Sees, 11 whom the ALJ found qualified as an 

expert in pilot training12 and testing, (Tr. 398-399), testified about training programs.  He 

testified that a carrier’s pilot training program13 is divided into six categories, including initial 

new hire and recurrent training.  Each category is divided into curriculums for each required 

                                                 
10

 A certificate holder must obtain initial and final FAA approval of a training program before 

implementing it.  14 C.F.R. §§ 135.323(a)(1) and 135.325.  FAA Inspector Sees testified that operators’ 

training curriculums must be approved by the FAA.  (Tr. 448-449.) 

 
11

 Sees is as an instructor at the FAA Academy at the Mike Monroney Aeronautical Center in 

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.  (Tr. 388.)  Prior to his assignment at the FAA Academy, he served as the 

supervisor of the Scottsdale, Arizona Flight Standards District Office (FSDO).  He testified that he has 

taught all of the FAA Academy courses, but primarily those related to air carrier training programs, pilot 

testing, proving flights and air carrier certification.  (Tr. 388-391.)   

 
13

 See Appendix III for definitions of the following terms as set forth in FAA Order 8400.10: 

training program, modular training, categories of training, curriculum, curriculum segment, training 

module, element, element, and checking and qualification module. 
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crewmember for a particular type aircraft operated by that operator.14  Curriculums are divided 

into segments, including basic indoctrination, aircraft ground, aircraft flight, and qualification 

segments.  (Tr. 404.)  The qualification segment is the final segment of any curriculum.  

(Tr. 431.)  Curriculum segments are divided into modules,15 which are composed of elements and 

events.16   

Section 8 of Ventura’s training manual describes the Qualification Segment for Ventura 

pilots.  (Respondent’s Exhibit 9.)  Completion “of all the curriculum segments as listed for the 

initial new hire curriculum” is a prerequisite for enrolling in the qualification segment.  

(Respondent’s Exhibit 9 at 1.)  The first module in Ventura’s Qualification Segment is entitled 

“CM-1 Competency Check 135.293,” (Respondent’s Exhibit 9 at 2), which includes the testing 

elements and checking events of Sections 135.293(a) and (b) respectively.  (Respondent’s 

Exhibit 9 at 2–4.) 

According to Ventura’s training manual, Ventura may use a “reduced initial new hire 

training curriculum” to train flight deck crewmembers who have “properly documented Part 135 

employment experience and who are current and qualified on the same equipment and duty 

position.”  (Respondent’s Exhibit 2 at 1).  The reduced initial new hire curriculum for a pilot 

serving as second in command, according to the manual excerpt introduced at the hearing, 

requires the completion of the following curriculum segments:  Basic Indoctrination; General 

Emergency; Aircraft Ground; Aircraft Flight; and Qualification.  (Respondent’s Exhibit 2 at 2.)  

                                                 
14

 “Each certificate holder must prepare and keep current a written training program curriculum 

for each type of aircraft for each crewmember required for that type aircraft.”  14 C.F.R. § 135.327(a).  

Each curriculum must include ground and flight training.   

 
15

 For example, Sees testified, an operator’s ground training curriculum segment may include 

training modules regarding aircraft electrical and fuel systems.  (Tr. 404.)  

 
16

 Respondent’s Exhibit 7 at 1. 
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Ventura’s training manual also stated that for the reduced initial new hire training curriculum, 

“Ground and Flight Training shall consist of the Operator Specific modules (BIO-1 through 

BIO-3) of the Basic Indoctrination Curriculum and the Recurrent Training Modules of other 

curriculums as appropriate.”  (Respondent’s Exhibit 2 at 1, emphasis added.)    

Ventura’s witnesses, Tarascio and Richard Peck, whom the ALJ found qualified as an 

expert in air carrier operations,17 testified that Ventura hired Tarascio with credit for his past 

training and experience at Air East Management, and used the reduced initial new hire 

curriculum to train him.  (Tr. 180-181, 288-291.)   

Peck testified that operators usually provide the following in-house training:  Section 

135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) training, including weight and balance, logging duty times, filing flight 

plans, and first aid.  He explained that operators usually send their pilots to a Part 142 training 

center classroom for aircraft-specific Sections 135.293(a)(2) and (3) training.  He testified that 

the Part 142 training center classroom has “all kinds of training aids18 and they teach the pilot 

how the hydraulics work, the electrical systems, the air conditioning, and so on.”  (Tr. 275.)  He 

testified that operators also provide flight training at the Part 142 training center, some of which 

is taught in a classroom and some of which is taught in a simulator.19  (Tr. 275- 276.)   

                                                 
17 Richard Peck, the safety officer and compliance specialist for Universal Jet Aviation and the 

assistant manager for the Fort Lauderdale International Airport, testified for Ventura as an expert in air 

carrier operations.  (Respondent’s Exhibit 8; Tr. 252, 254-255.)  Since 2005, Peck has been a consultant 

for the law firm representing Ventura in this litigation.  In 2005, Peck retired from the FAA, after 33 years 

of employment, including serving as the FAA aircraft program manager for Continental Express from 

1998-2005, FAA POI for Champlain Enterprises from 1994-1998, and FAA Operations Unit supervisor 

for the Albany, New York FSDO from 1989-1994.  (Respondent’s Exhibit 8; Tr. 249-250.)  Peck’s 

resume indicated that since 2005, he was also the assistant director of operations for Ventura but no 

mention of this position was made in his testimony at the hearing.  He did not claim to testify based upon 

personal knowledge of the events.   

 
18

 See 14 C.F.R. § 61.1(b)(7) for the definition of “flight training device.”   

 
19

 See 14 C.F.R. § 61.1(b)(5) for the definition of “flight simulator.” 
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Under its operations specifications dated March 3, 2005, Ventura was authorized to send 

its pilots to SIMCOM, a Part 142 training facility located in Orlando, Florida, for certain training 

and checking in the LR-35 (Lear 35) series approved simulator, as well as for differences 

training for the LR-25 and LR-55 (Lear 25 and 55).20  (Complainant’s Exhibit 4, Tr. 56, 80-83.)  

In a letter dated April 13, 2005, to Ryder, Inspector Mauro, Ventura’s POI at the time, wrote that 

Ventura was authorized to use SIMCOM to conduct all training and checking in LR-35 series 

approved simulator with differences training for the LR-25 and LR-55, except for Sections 

135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) testing.  (Complainant’s Exhibit 4 at 1.) 

Ventura introduced a portion of the Air Carrier Operations Inspector’s Handbook, FAA 

Order 8400.10, in effect at the time.  Paragraph 603 of this order, provided:21 

A.  Training/Checking Month.  The training/checking month is that calendar 

month during which a flight crewmember is due to receive recurrent training. … 

 

(1) Designating the Training/Checking Month.  When a crewmember completes 

an initial, transition, upgrade, or requalification training program within a 3-calendar 

month period, the month in which the qualification curriculum segment is completed is 

then considered to be that crewmember’s training/checking month.  If the training has 

been completed within the 3-month period, the operator may make a single record of the 

entire curriculum without noting when individual events occurred.  Subsequent 

scheduling of recurrent training may then be based on the training/checking month. …. 

 

(Respondent’s Exhibit 1.)   

Based on this guidance, Peck testified that if a pilot completed the Sections 135.293(a)(1) 

and (4)-(8) test on January 20, the Sections 135.293(a)(2) and (3) test on January 25, and the 

                                                 
20

 Ventura’s operations specifications (A031), dated March 3, 2005, provided that SIMCOM was 

an approved training provider for pilot initial, recurrent, transition, upgrade, requalification and 

differences training courses in the LR-25 and LR-55.  (Complainant’s Exhibit 4 at 6.)  Ventura had not 

operated a Lear 25 previously, and therefore, it is likely that it had not had authority to use SIMCOM for 

Lear 25 training prior to the approval of these operations specifications. 

 
21

  Peck testified that he compared the pertinent language in the current order, FAA Order No. 

8900.1 with the now superceded FAA Order No. 8400.10, and found that the pertinent language is 

practically identical in the two orders.  (Tr. 261.) 
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Section 135.293(b) flight test on February 4, the pilot’s base month for recurrent testing for the 

entire Section 135.293 test/check would be February because the pilot completed the checking 

module in February within a 3-month period.  (Tr. 263; see Tr. 277.)   

Tarascio testified that he took the oral test and check ride with Inspector Fraher on 

February 3, 2005, after he completed the company-specific basic indoctrination training.  (Tr. 

181-182.)  At that point, he testified, he had not completed his reduced initial new hire training 

program because he needed to take simulator training and checking at SIMCOM.  (Tr. 188-189.)   

According to Peck, on February 3, 2005, Tarascio was only qualified to take the Sections 

135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) portion of the oral or written test because he had not taken the training 

at SIMCOM.  Thus, in Peck’s view, Tarascio was not qualified to take the Sections 

135.293(a)(2) and (3) oral or written test or the Section 135.293(b) flight check that Fraher 

administered to Tarascio on that date.  (Tr. 282.) 

According to a SIMCOM certificate introduced by the FAA, Tarascio completed a 

“Specialty Curriculum Part 135 Lear 35 Recurrent Training course with [Lear] 25 differences” at 

SIMCOM in March 2005.  (Complainant’s Exhibit 3, Tr. 80-84.)  Ventura maintains that this 

recurrent training course that Tarascio took satisfied a requirement in Ventura’s reduced initial 

new hire training program.  (Tr. 226, 245-246.)  Consequently, according to Ventura’s witnesses, 

Tarascio completed the Section 135.293 checking module of his reduced initial new-hire training 

program in March 2005 – not in February 2005.  (Tr. 225.)  Therefore, Ventura maintains, March 

was Tarascio’s base month.22   

Tarascio testified that he “was under the impression it [the base month for recurring 

training and checking] was always March based on the training … in March.”  (Tr. 197.)  He 

                                                 
22

 There was no evidence offered to explain whether the April 2005 Lear 55 differences testing 

that Tarascio took at SIMCOM was part of initial or recurrent training. 
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testified that he did not have different base months for Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) testing 

and Sections 135.293(a)(2) and (3) testing.  (Tr. 197.) 

Based upon his review of Tarascio’s records, Peck testified that Tarascio completed the 

first phase of his in-house training and the first phase of the Section 135.293 checking module on 

February 3, 2005 (Tr. 279-280, 284), and completed the last phase of his training and the Section 

135.293 checking module at SIMCOM with the flight check on March 16.  (Tr. 279, 284.)  Peck 

testified that because Tarascio completed the checking module on March 16, 2005, which was 

“within the three-month block,” March was the base month for recurrent testing, not February 

[the month of the test and check with Fraher].  (Tr. 284.)  “And he is good for the next twelve 

months which would be March of ’06 plus a thirty-day grace period.”  (Tr. 284-285.)  

Consequently, according to Peck, Tarascio was eligible to fly until the end of April 2006, even 

though he had not completed the Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) test since February 2005.  

(Tr. 285.)  Thus, in his opinion, Ventura did not violate Section 135.293(a) when it used Tarascio 

as second in command in April 2006.  (Tr. 288.)  He opined further that Ventura “operated the 

aircraft to the highest standards and at no time did they [Ventura] risk anybody’s life or damage 

property.”  (Tr. 294-295.) 

Peck testified that a check ride should not be given before a pilot has completed all of his 

training.  (Tr. 281.)  However, according to Peck and Tarascio, Tarascio took the check with 

Fraher in February 2005, although he had not completed his training, because he had to 

demonstrate to FAA inspectors that he could operate the Lear 25 prior to serving as second in 

command on “proving runs.”  (Tr. 198-199, 281-282.)  Because Ventura had not operated this 

aircraft previously, it had to conduct 20 to 25 hours of flights – “proving runs”23 - in that aircraft 

                                                 
23

 Section 119.33(c) provides in part that “[e]ach applicant for a certificate under this part and 

each applicant for operations specifications authorizing a new kind of operation that is subject to 
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with FAA inspectors on board to demonstrate that it could operate the Lear 25 safely.  (Tr. 131.)  

Peck testified that the FAA would count the time spent on a check ride as part of the 25 hours of 

required proving runs.  (Tr. 347.)   

 On rebuttal, Sees testified, based upon his review of the documentary evidence that had 

been introduced at the hearing and that was included in the enforcement package, that Tarascio 

served as a pilot on flights in April 2006 when he had not passed a Sections 135.293(a)(1) and 

(4)-(8) knowledge test during the previous 13 months [12 months plus the grace month].  He 

explained: 

Mr. Tarascio received a complete 135.293(a) and (b) check in February of 2005.  He 

received a partial check in March of 2005.  He did not receive the 293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) 

check at any time after February of 2005 until May of 2006. 

 

(Tr. 402-403.)   

Sees testified that the Tarascio’s checking records showed that Tarascio completed the 

qualification segment in February 2005, when he successfully completed the Section 135.293(a) 

test and the Section 135.293(b) flight check.  He testified that Fraher should have checked 

Tarascio’s records and should not have given him the Section 135.293(a) test and Section 

135.293(b) flight check unless Tarascio had completed all of his training.  (Tr. 418, 475.)  

Consequently, he assumed that Tarascio had completed all of his prerequisite training before the 

check ride on February 3, 2005.  (Tr. 443, 476-477.)  He testified that “there is no mechanism for 

reaching back to training and testing that’s already been completed and adding or cherry-picking 

portions of that into the next month’s training that’s being conducted.”  (Tr. 418.) 

 

                                                                                                                                                             
§ 121.163 or § 135.145 of this chapter shall conduct proving tests as authorized by the Administrator 

during the application process for authority to conduct operations under part 121 or part 135 of this 

chapter.  14 C.F.R. § 119.33(c).  
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II. The Initial Decision 

 The ALJ’s factual findings included the following: 

1. Tarascio was hired by Ventura in 2004.  (Initial Decision at 3.) 

2. Tarascio had previous experience as a flight crewmember of a Lear 25.  (Initial 

Decision at 3.) 

 

3. Ventura used its “Reduced Initial New Hire Training Curriculum to train him.  (Initial 

Decision at 3.) 

 

4. Tarascio took a Section 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) test with Mauro in December 2004.  

She did not test him on the aircraft-specific topics covered under Section 

135.293(a)(2) and (3).  (Initial Decision at 3.) 

 

5. Fraher gave Tarascio a Section 135.293(a) test and Section 135.293(b) check ride in a 

Lear 25 on February 3, 2005.  Fraher found that “Tarascio possessed the knowledge 

required to pass the test in all respects (at least as a second-in-command.)”  (Initial 

Decision at 3.)   

 

6. The check ride with Fraher on February 3, 2005 was a “proving flight.”  (Initial 

Decision at 3.) 

 

7. Tarascio completed a specialty curriculum Part 135 Lear 35 recurrent course and a 

Lear 25 differences course at SIMCOM in March 2005.  While at SIMCOM, Tarascio 

successfully completed Section 135.293(a)(2) and (3) tests.  (Initial Decision at 4.) 

 

8. Tarscio’s next Section 135.293(a) testing was in May 8, 2006, when he passed a 

Section 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) test administered by Rogers.  (Initial Decision at 4.) 

 

9. Tarascio flew as first officer for Ventura on flights on April 1, 2, and 13, 2006.  

(Initial Decision at 4-5). 

 

The ALJ rejected as “nonsensical” Ventura’s argument that Tarascio’s testing under 

Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) should be considered as having been accomplished in March 

2005, rather than in February 2005, when Tarascio actually took that test.  (Initial Decision at 12-

13.)  Regarding Ventura’s theory of the case, the ALJ wrote, “The principal problem with the 

Respondent’s theory is that it is not rooted in the language of the governing regulation.”  (Initial 

Decision at 9.)  He wrote: 
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Nothing in the text of § 135.293(a) supports the notion that a requirement for an annual 

test of a crewmember’s knowledge really allows a crewmember to be tested once in a 

period of 15 months.  Yet, that is the result we would reach if the Respondent’s theory 

were adopted.  If a crewmember were tested on the first day of the year and completed 

the testing program on March 31, for example, under the Respondent’s version of the 

“modular” hypothesis and giving effect to the Respondent’s thesis that only the last event 

in the three-month testing-and-training cycle counts in calculating when the next training-

and-testing cycle must take place, the crewmember would not be due for re-testing until 

the end of March of the following year.  Indeed, if we combine the Respondent’s view of 

how the “modular” hypothesis is applied with the notion of a one-month “grace” period, 

the deadline would extend to the end of April of the following year.  That means that 

almost 16 months will have elapsed since the crewmember was previously tested on the 

material set forth in § 135.293(a).  Interpreting a requirement for “annual” tests to allow 

that result constitutes quite a stretch. 

 

(Initial Decision at 9-10.)   

The ALJ also found that Ventura’s theory of the case was flawed because it had failed to 

define the term “module” satisfactorily.  (Initial Decision at 10.)  The ALJ wrote that Ventura 

could not rely upon any guidance in FAA Order No. 8400.10 or Ventura’s training manual “to 

change the unambiguous meaning of a regulation.”  (Initial Decision at 11.)  He held that the 

regulation requires that the pilot complete various recurrent training and checking events within 

12 calendar months, not 15 calendar months plus a grace month.  (Initial Decision at 11.) 

The ALJ held that Tarascio was out of time when he made the three flights in April 2006, 

because “one-year-plus-a-grace-month hiatus for testing under § 135.293(a)(1) and (a)(4)-(8) had 

expired at the end of March 2006.”  (Initial Decision at 13.)  Hence, he held, Ventura used an 

unqualified second-in-command pilot on three flights in April 2006.  (Initial Decision at 13.) 

 Regarding sanction, the ALJ found that it was unfair to impose a heavy financial liability 

upon Ventura for several reasons, including that “Ventura made the wrong guess” when “faced 

with an ambiguous regulatory situation.”24  (Initial Decision at 14 and 15.)  The violation, the 

                                                 
24 He wrote in the Initial Decision at 14 as follows: 
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ALJ held, was “neither extraordinarily blameworthy, intentional nor deliberate.”  (Initial 

Decision at 15.)  Consequently, the ALJ assessed a $1.00 civil penalty, rejecting the $15,000 

civil penalty sought by Complainant. 

III.  Anaylsis 

 

A. The ALJ’s findings of fact were supported by a preponderance of the reliable, probative 

and substantial evidence, and his conclusions of law were made in accordance with the 

applicable law, precedent, and policy. 

 

Although the issue in this case is relatively easy to describe, the necessary analysis is 

more difficult.  Simply put, pursuant to 14 C.F.R. §§ 135.293(a) and (b), Tarascio was required 

to complete certain testing and checking every 12 months.  The 12-month requirement of Section 

135.293, however, is modified by Section 135.301, which allows a test taken either the month 

before or the month after (the “grace month”) to be deemed as having been taken during the 

month it is due (the “base month”).  Further, paragraph 603B of FAA Order No. 8400.10, the 

Order that implements the regulations, provided that even if the required recurrent test is not 

taken during the base month the following year, there is no violation for flight activities that 

occur within the grace month.   

This system of testing is relatively straight forward in circumstances where the base 

month or the “checking month” for a particular pilot is already established because the 

                                                                                                                                                             
[T]he FAA had published “guidance” that was virtually at war with the text of its regulation.  

While § 135.293 told the aviation community that flight deck crewmembers must be trained and 

tested on an annual basis, another section of the FAR … went on to say that the annual test of 

flight check requirement can be fulfilled once every 13 months.  Then, to add further ambiguity to 

the requirement for annual testing, the FAA published § 10 of Order No. 8400.10, which appears 

to say that the requirement for an annual test of piloting skills (meaning a test every 13 months) 

can be met in certain circumstances by “adopt[ing] a modular approach,” performing the training, 

testing, or both, over a three-month period and then treating all of the testing as if it had been 

done on the last day of that three-month period.  To add an additional enigma to the regulatory 

program, the agency’s chief counsel then issued an interpretation which can be construed to 

extend the annual training-and-testing cycle to some 15 months!   
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determination of when testing “is due” is a simple matter.  The difficulty in the instant case arises 

in connection with determining the checking month for a pilot, such as Tarascio, who is newly 

hired by the Part 135 certificate holder, here Ventura, and who does not have an established 

checking month.  On their face, the regulations are not ambiguous with respect to the 

requirement to have accomplished the required testing every 12 months (with a grace period).  

The ambiguity arises from paragraph 603A(1) of FAA Order No. 8400.10, regarding the 

establishment of the “training/checking” month.  Paragraph 603A(1) of that Order advised that 

“[w]hen a crewmember completes an initial … training program within a 3-calendar month 

period, the month in which the qualification curriculum segment is completed is then considered 

to be that crewmember’s training/checking month and the operator may make a single record of 

the entire curriculum without noting when individual events occurred.”  If the training program, 

including the qualification segment, extends beyond three months, the Order advises, the 

certificate holder must “schedule the accomplishment of recurring events separately.”  The Order 

does not provide any express guidance regarding circumstances where the qualification segment 

is accomplished over more than the last month, which is what Ventura claims happened in this 

case.  Nor does the Order make any express distinction between training and testing. 

In the present case, there is no question that Tarascio took a Section 135.293(a) and (b) 

test with Inspector Fraher during February 2005.25  By itself, that fact would compel the 

conclusion that Tarascio would be required to complete the same testing again by the end of 

March the following year.  And, it would follow, that Ventura would be within regulatory 

                                                 
25

 Ventura’s argument that Fraher administered an incomplete flight test because she did not have 

Tarascio perform a V-1 cut is frivolous because, as Inspector Sees explained, a V-1 cut is not required by 

the FAA or by Ventura’s training program.  See Respondent’s Exhibit 9, at page 8-3, which indicates that 

a pilot must demonstrate a takeoff with a powerplant failure only in a multiengine aircraft but this “may 

be tested by alternative means if the performance characteristics of the aircraft make this event 

hazardous.” 
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compliance for any flights Tarascio flew as second in command through the end of March of the 

following year, but would not be within the regulations for any flights, such as the ones in 

controversy here, in April of the following year.  Ventura defends the April flights, arguing that, 

notwithstanding Tarascio’s testing in February 2005, his initial training was not concluded until 

he underwent further training and testing at SIMCOM in March 2005.  Ventura points to the 

language of the FAA’s Order in asserting that because Tarascio’s training and testing extended 

into March, it is March, not February, which should be considered the base or checking month.  

If that were the case, then Tarascio’s flights in April were within the grace period. 

It is not necessary to parse the potential conflict between the regulations and the FAA 

order in this case because Ventura did not demonstrate that Tarascio’s training and testing in 

February and March were part of the same curriculum, and because even if they were part of the 

same curriculum, Ventura did not prove that the entire training program – start to finish - was 

accomplished within three months so that Ventura should be allowed to use March, rather than 

February, as his checking month for Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) testing.  The 

preponderance of the evidence supports a determination that February was Tarascio’s checking 

month for those sections, and consequently, that the flights he made in April 2006 were after the 

expiration of the eligibility period for Section 135.293 testing.   

Ventura failed to offer sufficient proof that Tarascio’s “training program” was limited to 

three months or that his initial training program was not completed until after he attended 

training at SIMCOM.  Peck’s testimony that everything was completed within 6 weeks referred 

only to the time between the tests with Fraher and at SIMCOM.  Ventura never presented a 

comprehensive explanation of Tarascio’s training or when such training began.  Ventura’s only 

fact witness was Tarascio, who testified that he took the test with Fraher on February 3, 2005, 
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after completing the basic indoctrination training.  Tarascio, however, did not provide the date(s) 

of his basic indoctrination training or explain how long before the February 3, 2005, test his 

basic indoctrination training occurred.  Peck had no personal knowledge of Tarascio’s training.  

His testimony was based on training records.  Ventura did not introduce any of Tarascio’s 

training records.  The training records might have shown the dates on which Tarascio started and 

completed the initial or reduced initial new hire training, depending upon how Ventura kept its 

records and how long it took Tarascio to complete that curriculum.  If Ventura only recorded the 

date on which Tarascio completed the initial or reduced initial new hire curriculum because the 

training was completed in 3 months, then someone with personal knowledge regarding how the 

records were kept needed to testify to that “fact.”  Ventura needed a fact witness, such as the 

chief pilot or the chief operations officer, to testify about how the operator kept its training 

records generally and Tarascio’s training records, in particular, and to explain what training, 

testing and checking Tarascio completed on what dates.  However, no one from Ventura’s 

management testified.  

Although not dispositive of the issue of how long the training program lasted, the record 

reflects that Tarascio completed some testing under Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) on 

December 8, 2004.  No reason for the December 8, 2004, test with Mauro was given.  This 

testing constitutes at least circumstantial evidence of a “training program” longer than the three-

month period described in FAA Order No. 8400.10.   

Further, the preponderance of the evidence does not support Ventura’s theory that 

Tarascio had not completed his training and testing under Sections 135.293(a) and (b) before he 

took the test and check with Inspector Fraher.  Ventura contends that Inspector Fraher gave 

Tarascio the February check and test before he completed his Part 135 training because he 
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needed to participate in the proving runs.  To prove this theory, Ventura needed to introduce the 

company’s training records and the testimony of a management official to explain those records 

as well as the circumstances surrounding the proving runs.  Tarascio did not keep his own 

training records and he did not have first-hand knowledge about the timing of the proving runs.  

Inspector Fraher should not have administered the complete test and flight check under Sections 

135.293(a) and (b) respectively to Tarascio if he had not completed his required training.  Also, 

proving flights are governed by 14 C.F.R. § 119.33(c),26 (Tr. 411), and therefore, Tarascio should 

not have flown on any proving runs (and Ventura should not have used him) until he had 

completed his Part 135 training.  Since the evidence, in particular, the FAA testing forms, 

supports a finding that Tarascio completed his training, testing and checking for the initial or 

reduced initial new-hire curriculum on February 3, 2005, then any training and Sections 

135.293(a)(2) and (3) testing and Section 135.293(b) checking he took in March 2005 was part 

of another curriculum.  Consequently, Tarascio’s March 2005 testing and checking could not be 

combined with February testing and checking to determine when recurrent Sections 

135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) testing was due in 2006. 

Expert testimony is evaluated on the basis of its logic, depth and persuasiveness.  Griffin 

Avionics, FAA Order No. 2007-9, at 10, n.16 (August 2, 2007); Stambaugh’s Air Service, FAA 

Order No. 2001-7 (May 16, 2001); Metcalf, FAA Order No. 1993-17 at 6 (June 10, 1993).  

Peck’s expert testimony that Tarascio’s training and testing in February and March 2005 were 

part of the same curriculum was not persuasive.   Despite his claims that he had thoroughly 

examined Tarascio’s records, he was unable to testify about when Tarascio was hired by Ventura 

                                                 
26

 Section 119.33(c) provides in pertinent part that “[all proving tests must be conducted under the 

appropriate operating and maintenance requirements of part 121 or 135 of this chapter that would apply if 

the applicant were fully certificated.”  14 C.F.R. § 119.33(c).  See also 14 C.F.R. § 135.1(a)(7) which 

states that Part 135 governs “[e]ach person who is an applicant for an Air Carrier Certificate or an 

Operating Certificate under [Part] 119 of this chapter, when conducting proving tests.”    
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and when he began serving as a pilot for Ventura.  More importantly, as the ALJ found, Peck 

was unable to explain satisfactorily what a module is.  The terms “modular training,” “training 

module” and “checking and qualification module” are defined in the FAA Order No. 8900.1, and 

had the same definitions in its predecessor, FAA Order No. 8400.1027 but Peck showed no 

familiarity with these definitions.  In contrast, the description of a modular training program, 

including curriculums, segments, modules, elements and events, given by Inspector Sees was 

consistent with the definitions of these terms in the FAA Orders.  (See Appendix III.)  Further, 

Peck’s testimony was unpersuasive in light of his incorrect testimony that proving flights are 

conducted under Part 91 and that Tarascio’s flight test with Fraher was incomplete. 28  

In light of the above, it is held that Ventura failed to prove its affirmative defense that 

Tarascio had completed his reduced initial new-hire training and testing within a 3-month period, 

ending in March 2005, which allowed Ventura to use him in revenue service in April 2006 

although he did not undergo recurrent Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)–(8) testing until May 2006.  

B.  The ALJ Did Not Err In Receiving Inspector Sees As An Expert Witness. 

 Ventura argued that the ALJ should not have accepted Sees as an expert witness in this 

case.  According to Ventura, Sees’s testimony did not meet the test for reliability set forth in 

Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 135 (1999), and therefore, the ALJ should have 

excluded Sees’s expert opinion testimony. 

                                                 
27

 See Appendix III.   

 
28

 Peck opined that Tarascio’s flight test in February 2005 was incomplete because Tarascio did 

not perform a V-1 cut, which “is where you lose an engine right after the speed of V-1” while “[y]ou are 

still on the runway.”  (Tr. 283-284).  However, a V-1 cut is not required under Ventura’s training manual, 

which provides that takeoff with powerplant failure in a multiengine aircraft “may be tested by alternative 

means if the performance characteristics of the aircraft make this event hazardous.”  (Respondent’s 

Exhibit 9 at page 8-3.)  See testimony of Inspector Sees at Tr. 444-447, and 449-500. 
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In Kumho, the Supreme Court held that trial judges were required under Fed.R.Evid. 702 

to determine whether expert opinion testimony based upon technical or other specialized 

knowledge was sufficiently reliable to admit.  Previously, in Daubert v. Merrell Dow 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993), the Court had held that trial judges were required to 

perform such a “gatekeeping” function regarding scientific expert testimony.  The Court in 

Daubert gave examples of factors for trial judges to consider including whether a theory or 

technique can be tested, has been subjected to peer review and publication, has a high known or 

potential error rate, and has been generally accepted with the relevant community of experts.  

In Kumho, the Court considered whether the Daubert factors should be considered by 

trial judges regarding technical experts.  The Court held that it could “neither rule out, nor rule 

in, for all cases and for all time the applicability of the factors mentioned in Daubert …” because 

“[t]oo much depends upon the particular circumstances of the particular case at issue.”  Kumho, 

526 U.S. at 150.  In the present case, the questions about testing, peer review, publication, and 

error rate, and acceptance by the relevant community of experts are inapplicable. 29 

Agency proceedings are governed by the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) and the 

agency’s individual procedural rules.  The APA provides that “[a]ny oral or documentary 

                                                 
29

 Moreover, while the Federal Rules of Evidence govern the admission of evidence in jury trials, 

ALJs in agency proceedings are not bound to follow those rules.  Bennett v. NTSB, 66 F.3d 1130, 1137 

(10
th
 Cir. 1995).  “Agencies relax the rules of evidence because they believe that they have the skill 

needed to handle evidence that might mislead a jury.”  Peabody Coal Company v. McCandless, 255 F.3d 

465 (7
th
 Cir. 2001) (referring to Richardson v. Perales, 402 U.S. 389 (1971).  Kumho and Daubert are 

based upon Fed.R.Evid. 702.  Hence, because ALJs in FAA civil penalty proceedings are not required to 

apply Fed.R.Evid. 702 when deciding whether to admit expert evidence, they are not required to follow 

the tests for exclusion of expert testimony set forth in Kumho or Daubert either.  See e.g., Bayliss v. 

Barnhart, 427 F.3d 1211 (9
th
 Cir. 2005) stating that the “Federal Rules of Evidence do not apply to the 

admission of evidence in Social Security administrative proceedings” and because Daubert and Kumbo 

rest upon an interpretation of Rule 702, neither decision governs the admissibility of evidence before an 

ALJ in administrative proceeding in a Social Security case); Peabody v. McCandless, 255 F.3d at 469 

(Daubert does not apply directly in black lung cases, because it is based on Fed.R.Evid. 702, which 

agencies need not follow.)   
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evidence may be received but the agency as a matter of policy shall provide for the exclusion of 

irrelevant, immaterial or unduly repetitious evidence.”  5 U.S.C. § 556(d).  Section 13.222(b) of 

the FAA’s Rules of Practice in Civil Penalty Proceedings, 14 C.F.R. § 13.222(b) similarly 

provides that an ALJ “shall admit any oral, documentary, or demonstrative evidence introduced 

by a party but shall exclude irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly repetitious evidence.  Inspector 

Sees’s testimony was not irrelevant, immaterial or unduly repetitious.30 

C. Ventura’s Argument that Section 135.293(a) is Void for Vagueness is Rejected.  

 Ventura argues on appeal that Section 135.293(a) is void for vagueness based upon the 

ALJ’s finding that “Ventura, in deciding how to deal with Capt. Tarascio’s qualifications, was 

faced with an ambiguous regulatory situation.”  Ventura argues that because, as the ALJ found, 

the “published guidance was virtually at war with the text of the regulation,” it did not have fair 

warning of the rule’s requirements.  Hence, Ventura urges, the Administrator should reverse the 

ALJ’s initial decision and dismiss this case.  (Appeal Brief at 23, 25.) 

 Under the void for vagueness doctrine, a law or regulation that does not fairly inform a 

person of what is commanded or prohibited or that encourages arbitrary and discriminatory 

enforcement is unconstitutional because it violates due process.  Trans States Airlines, Inc., FAA 

Order No. 2005-2 at 9-10 (March 9, 2005).  When evaluating a void for vagueness argument, a 

court will require only a reasonable degree of certainty, and will require less precision for a 

regulation that does not govern First Amendment activities.  Id., citing Throckmorton v. National 

Transportation Safety Board, 963 F.2d 441, 445 (D.C. Cir. 1992).  The Administrator has 

                                                 
30

 Finally, Ventura argued that “the circumstances of his [Sees’s] late involvement in this case 

casts a large dark shadow over the logic and depth of his testimony,” and, therefore, “his testimony should 

be disregarded.”  (Appeal Brief at 31.)  Such hyperbole is unpersuasive and unwarranted.  While the FAA 

did not inform Ventura that it planned to call Sees as an expert witness until shortly before the scheduled 

hearing date, the ALJ postponed the hearing, and Ventura was able to depose him prior to the hearing in 

April.  (See Tr. 479.) 
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declined to consider certain constitutional challenges, such as a challenge to the rules of practice 

as a whole, because a Federal Court of Appeals is the appropriate forum for such appeals.31  

Continental Airlines, FAA Order No. 1990-12 at 6 (April 25, 1998).  The Administrator has 

considered certain claims of vagueness to ensure that a regulation allegedly violated is defined 

with a sufficient degree of specificity so as to support the imposition of a punitive sanction.  

American Airlines, FAA Order No. 1999-1 at 7-8 (March 2, 1999).  

 The regulations are reasonably clear.  As Sees testified: 

The regulations stipulate and they are very plain and straightforward that no operator may 

use a pilot nor may a pilot serve as a pilot for an operator if they have not, within the past 

twelve calendar months, received a 135.293(a) and (b) test and 135.301 specifies that 

there is a grace month period that if they took that test in the eleventh or thirteenth month, 

it would be considered to have been taken in the twelfth month.  That did not happen in 

this case.  

 

(Tr. 403.)   

 D.  The ALJ Should Have Found That Ventura Violated Section 91.13. 

 The ALJ made no specific finding regarding whether Ventura violated Section 91.13 but 

he did find that Tarascio had the knowledge necessary to pass the Section 135.293(a) tests and 

that public safety was not at risk in April 2006 when Tarascio flew as second in command.  The 

FAA argues on appeal that “[b]eing that Mr. Tarascio’s qualifications were untested and 

unknown during those April 2006 flights, it was error for the ALJ to conclude that the public 

safety was never at risk … on the three flights.”  (Complainant’s Appeal Brief at 18.)   

 Section 91.13(a) prohibits any person from operating an aircraft “in a careless or reckless 

manner so as to endanger the life or property of another.”  14 C.F.R. § 91.13(a).  Absent 

extraordinary circumstances, a residual or derivative violation of Section 91.13(a) is established 

once certain operational violations are proven.  E.g., Ace Pilot Training, FAA Order No. 2005-12 

                                                 
31

 “Challenges to the constitutionality of an agency regulation … lie outside the cognizance of 

that agency.”  Howard v. FAA, 17 F.3d 1213, 1218 (9
th
 Cir. 1994).  
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(August 17, 2005) (operation of an aircraft that is not in compliance with airworthiness directives 

constitutes a violation of 14 C.F.R. § 39.3, and a residual violation of Section 91.13(a)); USAIR, 

Inc., FAA Order No. 1992-70 (December 21, 1992) (operation of an unairworthy aircraft 

constitutes a violation of 14 C.F.R. §§ 121.153(a)(2) and a residual violation of Section 91.13); 

Administrator v. Seyb, NTSB Order EA-5024 (February 27, 2003) (deviation from an air traffic 

control instruction is a violation of 14 C.F.R. § 91.123 and a residual violation of Section 91.13); 

Administrator v. Rogers, NTSB Order EA-4428 (February 20, 1996) (operating an aircraft with 

an inaccurate load manifest constituted a violation of Section 135.63 and a residual violation of 

Section 91.13(a)).  Proof of actual danger is not necessary to establish a violation of Section 

91.13(a) because that regulation prohibits any careless or reckless practice which is inherently 

dangerous and has the potential to jeopardize safety of persons and property.  Terry, FAA Order 

No. 1991-12 at 10 (April 12, 1991) (citing Haines v. Dep’t of Transp., 449 F.2d 1073, 1076 

(D.C. Cir. 1971)), aff’d sub nom, Terry v. Busey, 972 F.2d 1445 (D.C. Cir. 1992). 

 In this case, the conclusion that Ventura violated Section 91.13(a) by acting in a careless 

manner so as to endanger the lives and property of others arises from the finding that Ventura 

violated Section 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8), and no specific evidence of carelessness or actual or 

potential danger was required.  Permitting a pilot who has not demonstrated in a timely fashion 

that he has the knowledge required under the regulations to serve as a crewmember on flights for 

compensation or hire constitutes a careless endangerment of the safety of passengers and other 

crewmembers, as well as of property.  The fact that Tarascio passed the test on May 6, 2006, 

with Inspector Rogers does not prove that Tarascio had the requisite knowledge one month 

earlier.  However, the finding of a residual violation of Section 91.13 does not warrant an 

increase in the civil penalty.  Go Jet, FAA Order No. 2012-5 at 15-16 (May 22, 2012).   
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E.  The $1.00 Assessed By The ALJ Is Not Consistent With Applicable Law, Precedent, and 

Public Policy. 

 

1. The ALJ’s Failure To Consider FAA Sanction Guidance Was Arbitrary And An Abuse 

Of Discretion. 

 

Rogers testified that he had relied upon paragraph O of the Sanction Guidance Table in 

FAA Order No. 2150.3A, Appendix 4, part 1.  (Tr. 110-111.)  The FAA sought to introduce a 

copy of an excerpt from FAA Order No. 2150.3B, which was in effect on the date of the hearing, 

rather than an excerpt from FAA No. Order 2150.3A, which was in effect at the time of the 

flights in this case.  The ALJ noted at the hearing that he could have taken judicial notice of the 

pertinent portion of FAA Order No. 2150.3A.  Instead, the ALJ gave the FAA leave to submit 

the pertinent portion from FAA Order No. 2150.3A as a late-filed exhibit (Tr. 503), but did not 

specify a date certain for that submission.  Also, the ALJ directed both parties to file post-hearing 

initial briefs and post-hearing reply briefs simultaneously.  (Tr. 501.)  Instead of filing the 

excerpt from FAA Order No. 2150.3A separately, the FAA attached the excerpt to its initial post-

hearing brief.  The ALJ ruled in his decision that the FAA’s submission was too late because “it 

deprived the Respondent of the opportunity to examine it and refer to it in its post-hearing initial 

brief.”  (Initial Decision at 14.)   

Under the circumstances, it was arbitrary and an abuse of discretion for the ALJ to reject 

the excerpt from FAA Order No. 2150.3A as filed too late for the following reasons.  The ALJ 

did not establish a firm due date for the late-filed exhibit, and the FAA attorney had no reason to 

believe that the ALJ expected the excerpt to be submitted prior to the filing of the initial post-

hearing brief.  Moreover, although superseded by FAA Order No. 2150.3B, FAA Order No. 

2150.3A remains accessible to the public.32  Ventura and the ALJ knew from Rogers’ testimony 

                                                 
32

 This order may be obtained at 

http://rgl.faa.gov/Regulatory_and_Guidance_Library/rgOrders.nsf/key/Order%202150.3A. 

http://rgl.faa.gov/Regulatory_and_Guidance_Library/rgOrders.nsf/key/Order%202150.3A
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which portions of that order the FAA considered relevant.  Importantly, Ventura had an 

opportunity to comment about the excerpt when it filed its post-hearing reply brief in response to 

the FAA’s arguments about sanction in its initial post-hearing brief.  Hence, Ventura was not 

placed at a disadvantage by the submission of the excerpt as an attachment to the FAA’s post-

hearing initial brief. 

2.  A $15,000 Civil Penalty Is Appropriate. 

The Administrator has broad authority to assess civil penalties against individuals for 

violations of the regulations.  In 2006, when the violations in this case occurred, the 

Administrator had the authority to assess an $11,000 civil penalty per violation of the Federal 

Aviation Regulations (FAR), with each violation on each flight constituting a separate violation.  

49  U.S.C. §§ 46301(a)(2) and (a)(4); 14 C.F.R. § 13.305(d) (2006) (regarding inflation-

adjustment of civil penalty authority.)   

An appropriate civil penalty must reflect the totality of the circumstances surrounding the 

violations. 33  The Administrator provided policy guidance for agency employees to follow 

regarding sanctions for different types of violations of the Federal aviation statute and the FAR 

in the Compliance and Enforcement Order, FAA Order No. 2150.3A.  The Sanction Guidance 

Table, contained in Appendix 4 of that order, was designed to provide “general guidance for the 

exercise of the agency’s prosecutorial discretion” to “assure national consistency in enforcing the 

Federal Aviation Regulations.”    FAA Order No. 2150.3A, Appendix 4 at page 1.  The Sanction 

                                                 
33

 The factors that the FAA will consider include: (1) the nature and circumstances of the 

violation; (2) the extent and gravity of the violation; (3) the person’s degree of culpability; (4) the 

person’s history of violations, if any; (5) the person’s ability to pay the civil penalty; (6) the effect on the 

person’s ability to stay in business; and (7) other matters as justice may require.  Warbelow’s Air 

Ventures, Inc., FAA Order No. 2000-3 at 16-17, n.22, and 21 (February 3, 2000), reconsideration denied, 

FAA Order No. 2000-14 (June 8, 2000) and FAA Order No. 2000-16 (August 8, 2000), petition for 

review denied, Warbelow’s Air Ventures v. FAA, No. 00-70423 (9
th
 Cir. September 20, 2001).  
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Guidance Table in FAA Order 2150.3A, Appendix 4, recommends a minimum, moderate and/or 

maximum range sanctions for different types of violations committed by air carriers.  When the 

FAA formulated these sanction ranges for different types of violations, the agency considered the 

nature, extent and gravity of each general type of violation as well as the individual’s prior 

violation history (in that the table provides recommended penalties for first-time offenders.)  

Folsom’s Air Service, Inc., FAA Order No. 2008-11 at 12 (November 6, 2008); Schultz, FAA 

Order No. 1989-5 at 12 (November 13, 1989).   

The FAA later modified these ranges through the issuance of the 

Compliance/Enforcement Bulletin No. 92-1, included in Appendix 1 of FAA Order No. 

2150.3A.  The guidelines in Compliance/Enforcement Bulletin 92-1 were issued as “a means of 

placing a relatively equivalent deterrent effect on each air carrier that violates the same FAR, by 

considering the size of the carrier in determining an appropriate civil penalty.”34  

Compliance/Enforcement Bulletin No. 92-1, FAA Order 2150.3A, Appendix 1, at 103.  Under 

Compliance/Enforcement Bulletin No. 92-1, the maximum, moderate, and minimum civil 

penalty ranges vary depending upon the size of the carrier. 35  

The Sanction Guidance Table, paragraph O, explains that a maximum range civil penalty 

is appropriate in cases involving the use by an air carrier of an unqualified crewmember.  The 

FAA did not introduce any evidence regarding Ventura’s size.  Consequently, it is appropriate to 

                                                 
34

 This Bulletin established a system for classifying air carriers by size.  Under that Bulletin, air 

carriers were divided into four groups, with the largest air carriers belong to Group I and the smallest air 

carriers included in Group IV.  Group IV included Part 135 operators having fewer than six aircraft or no 

more than three different types of aircraft, and employing fewer than six pilots.  Generally speaking, 

Group I carriers are subject to higher civil penalties than the carriers in Group I.   

 
35

 For example, the maximum civil penalty range (as adjusted for inflation) in 2006 for a violation 

by a Group I carrier (Part 121 and Part 135 air carriers with annual operating revenue of $100,000,000 or 

more) was $7,500 to $11,000.  The maximum civil penalty range (as adjusted for inflation) in 2006 for a 

violation by a Group IV carrier (the smallest Part 135 air carriers) was $4,000 to $11,000 per violation. 
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apply the maximum civil penalty range for a Group IV operator.  At the time of these violations, 

the maximum civil penalty range for Group IV operators, as adjusted for inflation, was $4,000 to 

$11,000 per violation for each flight.  Compliance/Enforcement Bulletin No. 92-1, FAA Order 

No. 2150.3A, Appendix 1, at 106, and Appendix 4 at 6; 14 C.F.R. § 13.305(d)(2006). 

The $15,000 civil penalty sought by the FAA is consistent with the sanction guidance in 

effect at the time for Ventura’s violations of Sections 135.293(a)(1)-(4)-(8) on three flights.  No 

additional penalty is appropriate for the violations of Section 91.13 because they were residual 

violations.  The Sanction Guidance Table, as modified by the Compliance/Enforcement Bulletin, 

express the Administrator’s sanction policy, and if an ALJ assesses a civil penalty that is not 

consistent with agency sanction policy, the Administrator on appeal may reverse the ALJ.  

Folsom’s Air Service, FAA Order 2008-11 at 14. 

The ALJ gave several reasons for assessing only a nominal $1.00 civil penalty.  The ALJ 

explained that “in the final analysis, as we have seen, Ventura made the wrong guess, but it can 

hardly be faulted for having to guess; that is what the regulatory atmosphere required of it.”  

(Initial Decision at 15.)  However, Ventura introduced no evidence to prove that any member of 

its management relied upon FAA Order No. 8400.10, paragraph 603, when deciding whether 

Tarascio was qualified to fly as co-pilot on the flights on April 1, 2, and 13, 2006.  The evidence 

in the record shows only that Ventura’s expert witness thought that Ventura’s use of Tarascio did 

not constitute violations of Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8),  Ventura’s expert witness, 

however, did not assign Tarascio to those flights.  Hence, there is no evidence that Ventura 

“made the wrong guess” based upon the guidance contained in FAA Order No. 8400.10. 

The ALJ also stated, when justifying the $1.00 civil penalty, that it was significant that 

Tarascio was “at all relevant times knowledgeable and skillful enough to pass all of the tests set 
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out in § 135.293(a).”  (Initial Decision at 15.)  However, the fact that Tarasciso passed the 

Sections 135.293(a)(1) and (4)-(8) testing approximately 1 month after the flights is fortunate, 

and at best, justifies a penalty at the lower end of the appropriate penalty range.  The $15,000 

civil penalty amounts to a $5,000 civil penalty for the violations on each of three flights, and 

consequently, is at the low end of the maximum penalty range for a Group IV carrier.  It should 

be noted that taking and passing the knowledge test required under Sections 135.293(a)(1) and 

(4)-(8) after the flights in question defeated the purpose of the periodic testing requirement which 

is to ensure that a pilot retains the knowledge that he or she needs to fly persons or property for 

compensation or hire before flying.   

The ALJ also justified the imposition of a nominal $1.00 civil penalty on the fact that the 

FAA did not introduce evidence of prior violations by Ventura.  The sanction ranges set forth in 

FAA guidance, however, reflect the appropriate civil penalties for persons without a history of 

violations.  FAA Order No. 2150.3A, Appendix 4, at 1.   

VI. Conclusion 

 Ventura’s appeal is denied, and the FAA’s appeal is granted in part.  A $15,000 civil 

penalty is assessed.36 

      [Original signed by Michael P. Huerta] 

      MICHAEL P. HUERTA 

      ACTING ADMINISTRATOR 

      Federal Aviation Administration 

  

                                                 
36

 This order shall be considered an order assessing civil penalty unless Respondent files a 

petition for review within 60 days of service of this decision with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 

District of Columbia Circuit or the U.S. court of appeals for the circuit in which the respondent resides or 

has its principal place of business.  14 C.F.R. §§ 13.16(d)(4), 13.233(j)(2), 13.235 (2009).  See 71 Fed. 

Reg. 70460 (December 5, 2006) (regarding petitions for review of final agency decisions in civil penalty 

cases). 
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Appendix I 

 

Section 135.293, entitled “Initial and recurrent pilot testing requirements,” provides in pertinent 

part as follows:   

 

(a)  No certificate holder may use a pilot, nor may any person serve as a pilot, unless 

since the beginning of the 12
th

 calendar month before that service, that pilot has passed a 

written or oral test, given by the Administrator or an authorized check pilot, on that 

pilot’s knowledge in the following areas – 

 

(1) The appropriate provisions of parts 61, 91, and 135 of this chapter and the operations 

specifications and the manual of the certificate holder; 

 

(2) For each type of aircraft to be flown by the pilot, the aircraft powerplant, major 

components and systems, major appliances, performance and operating limitations, 

standard and emergency operation procedures, and the contents of the approved Aircraft 

Flight Manual or equivalent, as applicable; 

 

(3) For each type of aircraft to be flown by the pilot, the method of determining 

compliance with weight and balance limitations for takeoff, landing and en route 

operations; 

 

(4) Navigation and use of air navigation aids appropriate to the operation or pilot 

authorization, including, when applicable, instrument approach facilities and procedures; 

 

(5) Air traffic control procedures, including IFR procedures when applicable; 

 

(6) Meteorology in general, including the principles of frontal systems, icing, fog, 

thunderstorms, and windshear, and, if appropriate for the operation of the certificate 

holder, high altitude weather; 

 

(7) Procedures for – 

 

(i) Recognizing and avoiding severe weather situations; 

 

(ii) Escaping from severe weather situations, in case of inadvertent encounters, 

including low-altitude windshear (except that rotorcraft pilots are not required to 

be tested on escaping from low-altitude windshear); and  

 

(iii) Operating in or near thunderstorms (including best penetrating altitudes), 

turbulent air (including clear air turbulence), icing, hail, and other potentially 

hazardous meteorological conditions; and  

 

 (8) New equipment, procedures, or techniques, as appropriate. 
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Appendix II 

 

Section 135.293(b) provides:  

 

No certificate holder may use a pilot, nor may any person serve as a pilot, in any 

aircraft unless, since the beginning of the 12
th

 calendar month before that service, 

that pilot has passed a competency check given by the Administrator or an 

authorized check pilot in that class of aircraft, if single-engine airplane other than 

turbojet, or that type of aircraft, if helicopter, multiengine airplane, or turbojet 

airplane, to determine the pilot’s competence in practical skills and techniques in 

that aircraft or class of aircraft.  The extent of the competency check shall be 

determined by the Administrator or authorized check pilot conducting the 

competency check.  The competency check may include any of the maneuvers 

and procedures currently required for the original issuance of the particular pilot 

certificate required for the operations authorized and appropriate to the category, 

class and type of aircraft involved.  For the purposes of this paragraph, type, as to 

an airplane, means any one of a group of airplanes determined by the 

Administrator to have similar means of propulsion, the same manufacturer, and 

no significantly different handling or flight characteristics.  For the purposes of 

this paragraph, type, as to a helicopter, means a basic make and model. 
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Appendix III 

 

The following definitions regarding training programs were set forth in Section 283 of 

FAA Order No. 8400.10 in effect in 2005-2006 (and are identical to the current definitions set 

forth in Paragraph 3-1072 of the current FAA Order No. 8900.1): 

 

 Training Program:  A system of instruction which includes curriculums, facilities, 

instructors, check airmen, courseware, instructional delivery methods, and testing and 

checking procedures.  This system must satisfy the training program requirements of 

Part 121 or Part 135 and ensure that each crewmember … remains adequately trained 

for each aircraft, duty position, and kind of operation in which the person serves. 

 

 Modular Training:  The concept of program development in which logical 

subdivisions of training programs are developed, reviewed, approved and modified as 

individual units.  Curriculum segments and modules may be used in multiple 

curriculums.  The modular approach allows great flexibility in program development 

and reduces the administrative workload on both operators and instructors in the 

development and approval of these programs. 

 

 Categories of Training:  The classification of instructional programs by the regulatory 

requirement the training fulfills.  Categories of training consist of one or more 

curriculums.  The categories of training are initial new-hire, initial equipment, 

transition, upgrade, recurrent ,and requalification. 

 

 Curriculum:  A complete training agenda specific to an aircraft type, a crewmember 

… position and a category of training.  An example is an “initial new- hire, Boeing 

727 flight engineer curriculum.”  Each curriculum consists of several curriculum 

segments. 

 

 Curriculum Segment:  The largest subdivision of a curriculum containing broadly 

related training subjects and activities based on regulatory requirements.  Curriculum 

segments are logical subdivisions of a curriculum which can be separately evaluated 

and individually approved.  Examples are a “ground training” segment and a “flight 

training” segment.  Each curriculum segment consists of one or more training 

modules. 

 

 Training Module:  A subpart of a curriculum segment which constitutes a logical, 

self-contained unit.  A module contains elements or events which relate to a specific 

subject.  For example, a ground training curriculum segment could logically be 

divided into modules pertaining to aircraft systems (such as hydraulic, pneumatic and 

electrical).  As another example, a flight training curriculum segment is normally 

divided into flight periods, each of which is a separate module.  A training module 

includes the outline, appropriate courseware and the instructional delivery methods.  

It is usually, but not necessarily, completed in a single training session. 
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 Element:  An integral part of a training, checking, or qualification module that is not 

task-oriented but subject oriented.  For example, an “electrical power” ground 

training module may include such elements as a [direct current] DC power system, an 

[alternating] AC power system, and circuit protection. 

 

 Event:  An integral part of a training, checking, or qualification module which is task-

oriented and requires the use of a specific procedure or procedures.  A training event 

provides a student an opportunity for instruction, demonstration, and/or practice using 

specific procedures.  A checking or qualification event provides an evaluator the 

opportunity to evaluate a student’s ability to correctly accomplish a specific task 

without instruction or supervision. 

 

 Checking and Qualification Module:  An integral part of a qualification curriculum 

segment which contains checking and qualification requirements specified under Part 

121 or Part 135.  For example, a qualification curriculum segment may contain a 

proficiency check module, a LOFT [Line-Oriented Flight Training] module, and an 

operating experience (qualification) module. 

 

 

 


































